
 

 

Copeland Borough Council 
The Market Hall 
Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG  

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

AGENDA 
 

Venue: The Atrium, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 
Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ  

Date:   Thursday, 7th October, 2021 
Time:   2.00 pm 
Contact Officer: Rose Blaney   Tel: 07385 362773 

 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:   

  
To receive declarations by Members and/ or co-optees of 
interests in respect of items on this Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised 
Code of Conduct, they are required to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary interests or other registrable interests which have not 
already been declared in the Council’s Register of Interests. (It is 
a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable pecuniary interest 
either in the Register or at the meeting).  
 
Members are advised however, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such 
disclosable pecuniary interests which they have already declared 
in the Register, as well as any other interests.  
 
Members are reminded that they may not, by law, participate or 
vote in any discussion in a meeting on a matter in which they 
have a disclosable pecuniary interest  
 
Members are advised that they should leave the room during 
consideration of any items of business in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 2 September 2021  1 - 8 

4. Executive Forward Plan  9 - 14 

5. 2021/22 Council Performance Plan - Q1  15 - 28 

6. 2021/22 Finance Report - Q1  29 - 38 

7. Business Rates - Discretionary Rate Relief Policy Update  39 - 60 

8. Fleet Renewal Update - Verbal   

9. Social Inclusion CBC Grants Showcase: Introduced by Amanda 
Starr and Presentation from Law Centre  

 

10. Scrutiny Officer Updates  61 - 66 

11. Date and Time of Next Meeting:   

 The next meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be 
held on Thursday 4th November at 2:00pm in The Atrium, 
Copeland Centre, Whitehaven.  
 

 

 
 

Membership: Councillors John Kane (Chair), Felicity Wilson (Deputy Chair), 
James Date, Gemma Dinsdale, Gwynneth Everett, Joseph Ghayouba, 
Charles Maudling, Sam Meteer, Sam Pollen, Peter Tyson and Doug Wilson 

 
Contacts:  Direct Dial: 07385 362773 
   E-mail: rose.blaney@copeland.gov.uk 
   Website: www.copeland.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY, 2 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

Present: Councillors Felicity Wilson in the Chair (Deputising for John Kane), 
Gwynneth Everett, Joseph Ghayouba, Sam Pollen and Doug Wilson 
 
Officers: Rose Blaney (Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny)), Steven Brown,  
(Director of Financial Resources), Emanuel Flecken (Parks & Open Spaces 
Manager) and Emma Williamson (Social Inclusion and Community Resilience 
Team Leader). 
 
 

OSC25 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies were received from Councillors John Kane, James Date, Sam Meteer 
and Charles Maudling. Also, Sarah Pemberton and Stephanie Shaw. 
 

OSC26 Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:  
 
No Declarations of Interest were made. 
 

OSC27 Minutes of the meeting held on 8 July 2021  
 
Councillors reviewed the minutes of the previous Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (OSC) meeting. 
 
Resolved – That, with a unanimous vote, the Committee agreed that the 
minutes of the meeting held on 8 July 2021 were approved as a true and 
accurate record. 
 

OSC28 Executive Forward Plan  
 

The Committee reviewed the Executive Forward Plan. 

Councillor Pollen asked for further information on the Fleet Renewal going to 
the Executive on 14th September 2021 and for further information regarding the 
Business Rates - Discretionary Rate Relief Policy and Moss Bay Enterprise Trust 
going to the Executive on 12th October 2021. 

Councillor Wilson requested that the Portfolio Holder for Commercial Services 
be invited to the next Overview and Scrutiny Meeting on 7th October 2021 to 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



provide the Committee with an overview and further information regarding the 
Fleet Renewal. 

Councillor Ghayouba proposed that a question be put forward in advance to the 
Portfolio Holder, to allow time for them to find the answer, asking what the 
ambition is for Copeland through the Fleet Renewal for Net Zero and possible 
using hybrid vehicles with the environmental impact being such a key issue.  

The Scrutiny Officer agreed to invite the Portfolio Holder for Commercial 
Services to the next meeting and put Councillor Ghayouba’s question to them 
beforehand. The Scrutiny also agreed to get some more information on the 
Business Rates - Discretionary Rate Relief Policy from the Director of Financial 
Resources to be presented at the next meeting. Then, the Scrutiny Officer 
informed the Committee that the only information available at the moment was 
that the Moss Bay Trust Enterprise is currently confidential at this stage but that 
they will contact the report author to see what information may be shared with 
the Committee. 

Resolved – That, 
a) With a unanimous vote for, the Committee agreed that the Executive 

Forward Plan be noted.  

b) The Scrutiny Officer will ask for an update on the Moss Bay Enterprise 

Trust to provide to the Committee 

 
OSC29 2020-21 Finance Report - Q4  

 
The Director of Financial Resources was present to answer the Councillors 
questions and cover the report. 
 
Councillor Pollen asked how concerned should councillors be regarding the 
outstanding accounts and the section 24 sanction received. The Director noted 
that the section 24 came from the 2017/18 audit reports which was the cyber-
attack year. There is a plan in place to get the 2018/19 financial statements up 
to date through effort and focus. The current timetable has been developed to 
fit with the External Auditors timetable and enable to council to provide any 
information the auditors’ request. 
 
Councillor Pollen then asked if councillors should be concerned with the reliance 
on reserves to balance the budget. The Director noted that it is not ideal to be 
relying on reserves to balance the budget but there are many local authorities 
having to use reserves to balance their budget. With LGR, the 2022/23 will be 
the last budget the Council will set. 
Councillor Pollen asked for the Director to provide further information on the 
‘Exceptional Funding’ the council received. The Director explained that in 2021, 

Page 2



with Covid, there were a number of councils seeking Government support to set 
their budgets. The Government provided emergency financial support 
throughout the past 18 months and following discussions with Copeland they 
gave a capitalisation directive of £1.5m in 2021/22 subject to an external review 
CIPFA is currently undertaking the review and the next stage is for the Secretary 
of State to approve once the review has been complete. 
 
The Chair asked the Director if the council’s finance team, with regard to the 
tight timeframe to deliver in-depth finances with constraints due to the cyber-
attack, have the appropriate resources regarding creating the budget, LGR and 
shortfalls. The Director noted that the size of the team has increased but is in a 
state of ebb and flow (due to maternity leave, leavers, and new starters etc.). 
The Council face pressures due to the locality for talent and the Director noted 
that it is very hard to keep talented people. Finance is a critical area to the Chief 
Executive and the Mayor and there are resources available to help the team. 
 
Councillor Pollen also asked for it to be noted that any comments and 
concerned are not directed at officers. 
 
Councillor Doug Wilson asked for some context to be given regarding the section 
114 (bankruptcy) that have been delivered by other councils and the overall 
trend of councils running at deficit in relation to Copeland. The Director noted 
that there has been an increase in numbers for those issuing section 114 
notices. With the Fair Funding Review and the Business Rates Review there is 
uncertainty regarding future funding. 
Councillor Ghayouba asked if the financial issues prevent the council from 
meeting statutory obligations to the public and, with LGR, are the council likely 
to continue to meet obligations. The Director commented that, to the best of 
their knowledge, the council is meeting their obligations to deliver statutory 
services.  
 
Resolved – That, with a unanimous vote for, the Committee agreed that the 
2020-21 Finance Report – Q4 be noted. 
 

OSC30 Engagement with Schools Verbal Update  
 
The Social Inclusion and Community Resilience Team Leader gave the 
Committee a verbal update on the engagement with schools’ projects in relation 
to the Children’s Charter created as part of the OSC Child Poverty Task & Finish 
Group. The Team Leader noted that there have been some delays due to Covid, 
but it has been started up again and large amounts of data have been received 
but due to time constraints, they have not been able to go through the date yet. 

Page 3



The Team Leader also commented that they are happy to work with councillors 
on projects and funding. 
 
The Chair asked that the schools within South Copeland be included within this 
engagement as they had been missed in the initial project. The Team Leader 
noted that not all schools have been engaged with yet, but that the programme 
had only been started in May and put on hold for the summer. The Team Leader 
is working with the Beacon and their school sessions, so not all schools have 
been involved to date. However, the Team Leader highlighted that they would 
be willing to travel to South Copeland if they struggled to get to the Beacon to 
ensure that they were involved. 
 
Councillor Everett highlighted that there had been a concern that the Children’s 
Charter would be just words, so it was good to see some involvement. She then 
asked how the schools and teachers had reacted to the project. The Team 
Leader answered that most work well with the team, that there have been some 
odd issues but that it’s all about creating opportunities. One obstacle is capacity 
and the time needed to go into schools and have a session, but that the team 
are working around the school’s timetable. 
 
Councillor Ghayouba noted their concern that, as a new councillor, the 
Children’s Charter did look like just a bunch of words. However, he did note that 
it was good to hear about the progress made. Councillor Ghayouba wondered if 
there were any specific targets/metrics that were available to see if the 
Children’s Charter would be met or if there are any areas of improvement. The 
Team Leader commented that they are currently undergoing coaching/training 
to help create a framework for any social inclusion project to be able to measure 
success. The Team Leader noted that while numbers/data are good to have, 
social inclusion needs qualitative and case study data, but the team are working 
on a way to measure success going forward. There is a UCLan report as to why 
the Children’s Charter was created which will be sent to the Scrutiny Officer for 
circulation. The Team Leader noted that it is important to invest in young 
people. 
 
Councillor Pollen thanked the Team Leader for their update and asked if there 
was anything to do to improve the Children’s Charter. He also noted that 
councillors would be happy to help with this project and go into schools if there 
is an opportunity. Councillor Pollen also asked if there was an opportunity for 
further promotion of the project within the council and the community. The 
Team Leader noted that some of the key issues the schools have recently put 
forward revolve around environment and safety, which are not in the Charter, 
so there is an option to do a refresher on the Charter. The Programme of Events 
can be sent to councillors. The Social Inclusion report will be taken to Full 

Page 4



Council in December. Communication is key, but depending on the project, the 
team are unable to use the council’s Communications team and there has been 
issues regarding recruitment for staff. 
 
Councillor Doug Wilson brought a suggestion for asking the kids to identify 
objectives from the situations and ideas, for them to be the ones to set goals 
and identify targets to fund. To have something tangible come out of the 
Charter and look into ideas of ways of offer free time/fun without regulation. 
The Team Leader noted that this isn’t just about free things and doing things for 
families. It was also highlighted that the responses from kids come from those as 
young as four years old, the information received from the adults will be a lot 
more in-depth. It’s all about engaging ‘them’ to do things and to offer schools 
support as they are able to apply for their own funding. 
 
Councillor Everett noted the two Health and Wellbeing Task & Finish Groups for 
North and South Copeland which will focus on Children’s physical and mental 
health and wellbeing. The Team Leader noted that Cumbria County Council are 
in charge of health and wellbeing for the county and that the University of 
Cumbria went into schools and created a report based on speaking with 800 
young people aged 11 to 18. The Scrutiny Officer will circulate the report 
following the meeting and noted that they will share the information received as 
part of the task & finish groups with the Team Leader. 
 
Councillor Ghayouba asked what impact the cut to Universal Credit would have 
on Copeland’s position on providing/delivering the Children’s Charter. The Team 
Leader noted that there has been a rise in families visiting the food pantry with 
the cut proposed. The Team Leader noted that they have worked with the DWP 
Youth Hub in Mirehouse for young people with barriers (aged 18-24 years old) 
to help gather the data to monitor those issues. It was also noted that the team 
are constantly chasing funding as the services is not statutory. 
The Chair noted that his is a key and pertinent issue, even though not statutory. 
And she commented that a letter to all councillors for contact details for schools 
in their ward to help ensure the entire borough is involved. 
 
Councillor Pollen noted that this service is important to all councillors and looks 
forward to the report in December. 
The Team Leader noted that the Children’s Charter will not just be a document 
on the shelf and the results will be driven by the community and will be 
continuously implemented. 
 
Resolved – That the Scrutiny Officer will provide the Committee with the reports 
requested and noted within the minutes. 
 

Page 5



OSC31 Footway Lighting Report  
 

The Open Spaces Manager gave an overview of the report, highlighting the key 
parts of the report including the effects of costings, working to get all lights 
under Copeland’s authority ahead of LGR for an easier transition, suppliers, and 
LED lights. The Committee were then invited to ask questions. 

The Chair thanked the Open Spaces Manager for the report, including the 
involvement from the officer who has since left the council, and noted the cost 
of officer hours involved to determine who owned what lighting. 

Councillor pollen noted commented that all councils within the borough would 
be supporting this report and developing partnership working. He then noted 
three concerns: health and safety, anti-social behaviour and the condition of 
pathways. Also commenting that passing responsibility back to Copeland may 
cause a loss of control, especially if there is a cut to funding. 

Councillor Wilson noted that this report was welcome as the street/footway 
lighting has been an issue for nearly two years as the asset register was out of 
date noting that the inventory check carried out will be of a real benefit. He 
noted that all possible solutions to avoid anyone not recognising their 
responsibility should be considered. The environmental and efficiency changes 
through new lighting would be welcome and support was offered should it be 
needed. 

The Chair noted that when some of the rural councils were replaced by the 
borough council the transition of responsibility for the lighting was not clear and 
that LGR could make that worse if the work is not done correctly. 

Councillor Ghayouba asked, in term of the budget and the shortfalls, will taking 
on extra lights for a smoother transition through LGR have a negative impact. 
The Open Spaces Manager noted that there are 1200 lights in the borough and 
that a cost could be saved by investigation the electricity providers and looking 
at possible better prices. The inventory of lights has now been implemented on 
the GIS system, so now instead of going through the County Council to find the 
light, the teams can now go through the inventory. The Open Spaces Manager 
also noted that some of the lights throughout the borough are out of date and 
the cost to replace them would be excessive. Those lights would need to be 
fixed in the old ways and there are legal implications involved, and costs could 
reach £15K.  

Councillor Ghayouba also commented that upgrading to LED lights would reduce 
the carbon footprint and forecast a possible saving. The Open Spaces Manager 
noted that this saving has been looked into and there is a possible double saving 

Page 6



as the team can combine the inspection of the lights and the installation of LED 
lights into one cost. 

Councillor Wilson asked if there was a method of identifying lighting on the unit 
themselves and a method of reporting issues. The Open Spaces Manager noted 
that the lights have numbers on them which have been recorded on the GIS 
system and to report issues people can email the open spaces department 
email. 

Resolved – That, with a unanimous vote for, the Committee agreed to note the 
Footway Lighting report and to have the feedback reported back to the 
Executive. 

 
OSC32 Scrutiny Officer Updates  

 

The Scrutiny Officer gave the Committee updates on the Work Programme and 
gave updates on the Task & Finish Groups.  

The Scrutiny Officer noted that the current work programme is out of date 
following the training that took place on 18th August 2021. The Committee 
reviewed the items scheduled for October 2021 and confirmed that the Q1 
Finance Report and Performance Plan reports and the Law Centre presentation 
will be on the agenda, as will the information requested during agenda item 
four, once agreed by the Executive. The rest of the work programme will be 
discussed at the next informal meeting and then confirmed at the 7th October 
meeting with councillors asked to consider possible topics ahead of time. 

Clarification was also given as to the reason behind the presentations coming to 
OSC and ways to move forward including the presentations being member 
briefings and reports coming to OSC. 

Questions were asked by councillors as to what topics would be allowed for OSC 
to consider for their work programme. The Scrutiny Officer confirmed that any 
topic can be brought forward for consideration, the Officer will then go away 
and create a mini scope for each topic for the Committee to then consider and 
discuss at the informal meetings. 

The Scrutiny Officer confirmed the current states of the Task & Finish Groups as 
detailed within the agenda including highlighting that the final recommendation 
from the Recycling Task & Finish Group Report being taken back to the Executive 
for further clarification to gain approval. 

 
OSC33 Date and Time of Next Meeting:  

 

Page 7



The Chair informed members that the next Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will be held on Thursday 7th October 2021 at 2pm in the Copeland Centre.  
 
 
 
The Meeting closed at 4.10 pm  
 

 
Chair 

Page 8



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

  

  

Executive 14 September 2021 

MAYOR’S FORWARD PLAN AND WORK PLAN  

  

This Plan is published in accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012. It provides details of key decisions which the Executive will be making during the above period.  

  

A key decision is a decision made by the Mayor either by himself, through his Executive, by individual Executive members or by officers 

performing an Executive function and is one which either results in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which are significant 

(compared to the local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates) or is one which is significant in terms of its 

effects on communities living or working in an area comprising of two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area. The Council’s 

constitution states that ‘significant’ includes (a) any decision by the Executive in relation to proposed recommendations to Council to amend 

the policy framework; (b) any single item of expenditure or savings in excess of £50,000; or (c) any decision which is likely to have a 

permanent or long term (more than 5 years) effect on the Council or the Borough.  

  

A key decision cannot be made until at least 28 clear days has elapsed between publication of this document and the day the decision is made. 

An exception to this rule is where such publication of intention is impracticable. In those circumstances the period of 28 clear days may be 

reduced to 5 clear days provided that the chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been informed of the matter and shorter 

notice has been publicised. If 5 clear days cannot be given then a decision may only be made if the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee has agreed to the making of the decision on the grounds that the decision is urgent and cannot unreasonably be deferred.  

  

Where the decision maker is shown to be the Executive, the Executive will comprise of Mayor Mike Starkie and Councillors David Moore as 

Deputy Mayor, Steven Morgan and Andy Pratt. 

  

Copies of any document listed in the plan will be available from the officer shown in the table when the report is released, subject to them not 

containing confidential or exempt information.  

  

 

   

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 4



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Report  Who will 

make the 

decision  

Date on which the 

decision will be 

made  

Portfolio  

Holder 

Lead Officer  Key  
Decision 

Likely to contain 
confidential 
or exempt 

information 
 

Drainage Issues - 

Lowca 

Executive Executive 

14 September 2021 

Environment, Place 

and Inclusive 

Communities 

Cllr Andy Pratt 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

Yes Yes 

2021/22 Council 

Performance Plan – 

Quarter 1 

Executive Executive 

14 September 2021 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy (M.O.) 

 

Yes No 

2021/22 Finance 

Report – Quarter 1  

 

Executive   Executive 

14 September 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

Fleet Renewal Executive Executive 

14 September 2021 

Commercial Services 

Cllr Steven Morgan 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy (M.O.) 

 

Yes No 

GLL Contract 

Extension 

Executive Executive 

14 September 2021 

Commercial Services 

Cllr Steven Morgan 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes Yes 

P
age 10



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Report  Who will 

make the 

decision  

Date on which the 

decision will be 

made  

Portfolio  

Holder 

Lead Officer  Key  
Decision 

Likely to contain 
confidential 
or exempt 

information 
 

Property Acquisition Executive Executive 

14 September 2021 

Commercial Services 

Cllr Steven Morgan 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy (M.O.) 

 

Yes Yes 

Corporate Debt 

Recovery Policy 

Council Executive 

12 October 2021 

 

Council 

7 December 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

Business Rates – 

Discretionary Rate 

Relief Policy 

Council Executive 

12 October 2021 

 

Council 

7 December 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

Moss Bay Enterprise 

Trust 

Executive Executive 

12 October 2021 

 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive  

 

Yes No 

Community 

Partnership 

Executive Executive 

12 October 2021 

 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive  

 

Yes No 

P
age 11



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Report  Who will 

make the 

decision  

Date on which the 

decision will be 

made  

Portfolio  

Holder 

Lead Officer  Key  
Decision 

Likely to contain 
confidential 
or exempt 

information 
 

2021/22 Council 

Performance Plan – 

Quarter 2 

Executive Executive 

9 November 2021 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy (M.O.) 

 

Yes No 

2021/22 Finance 

Report – Quarter 2  

 

Executive   Executive 

9 November 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

Update to Climate 

Action Plan 

Executive   Executive 

9 November 2021 

Environment, Place 

and Inclusive 

Communities 

Cllr Andy Pratt 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

Yes No 

Social Inclusion 

Annual Report 

Council Executive 

9 November 2021 

Council 

7 December 2021 

 

Environment, Place 

and Inclusive 

Communities 

Cllr Andy Pratt 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

Yes No 

2020/21 Finance 

Outturn Report 

Council Council 

7 December 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

P
age 12



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Report  Who will 

make the 

decision  

Date on which the 

decision will be 

made  

Portfolio  

Holder 

Lead Officer  Key  
Decision 

Likely to contain 
confidential 
or exempt 

information 
 

2021/22 Council 

Performance Plan – 

Quarter 3 

Executive Executive 

1 February 2022 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy (M.O.) 

 

Yes No 

2021/22 Finance 

Report – Quarter 3  

 

Executive   Executive 

1 February 2022 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

Health and Safety 

Monitoring Half 

Yearly Report 

1st Jul – 31st Dec ‘21 

Executive Executive 

1 February 2022 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

 

No No 

  

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  OSC07102021 
 

 

1 

 
 

CORPORATE PERFORMANCE UPDATE FOR QUARTER ONE OF 2021-22 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER:   Cllr David Moore 

LEAD OFFICER:  Sarah Pemberton,  

Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy 

 

REPORT AUTHOR:  Gillian Butterworth,  

Performance and Risk Management Officer 

 

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE?   

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee supports the Executive in ensuring that 

the Council complies with its duties of Best Value and value for money.  It also 

has a key role to play in promoting and monitoring good performance 

management throughout the Council.    

 RECOMMENDATION:  

a) Note performance of Key Performance Indicators  

 

1.        INTRODUCTION 
1.1 The Executive monitor progress against the Council’s strategic ambitions 

through the Performance Management and Improvement Framework.  
This report presents the outturn position of Key Performance Indicators 
at the end of Quarter one 2021-22  

 

2.0 DETAILS 
 
2.1  At the end of Quarter one; 

 79% of KPIs had met their target (19 out of 24) 
 These can be grouped to show; 

 83% of ‘corporately owned’ KPIs met their target. (10 out of 12). 

 75 % of non-corporately owned’ KPIs met their target (9 out of 12) 

 87 % of KPIs performed equal to or better than the same quarter 
last year (20 out of 23 where comparisons were possible) 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



  OSC07102021 
 

 

2 

 
 

 

2.2 Tables 1 and 2 show which KPIs met their quarterly target. The tables 
 differentiate between corporately owned KPIs which are within the 
 councils control and non-corporately owned KPIs which are dependent 
 on factors external to the council.   
 Full details for KPIs are listed in Appendix A 
 Table 1 corporately owned KPIs 

 Performance Indicator 
Was 
Target 
Met? 

KPI 8 Percentage of Non-domestic Rates Collected 
 

KPI 10 Speed of processing - new HB claims 
 

KPI 11 Speed of processing - new CTR claims 
 

KPI 12 Speed of processing - changes of circumstances for HB claims 
 

KPI 13 Speed of processing - changes of circumstances for CTR claims 
 

KPI 14 Homeless relief cases 
 

KPI 15 Domestic Abuse support 
 

KPI 17 Percentage of Freedom of information requests resolved within timescale 
 

KPI 21 Percentage of 'major' planning applications determined within 13 weeks 
 

KPI 22 Percentage of planning 'minor' planning applications determined within 8 weeks 
 

KPI 23 Percentage of 'other' applications determined within 8 weeks 
 

KPI 24 Percentage of planning appeals dismissed 
 

 
 Table 2 Non- Corporately owned KPIs 

 Performance Indicator 
Was 
Target 
Met? 

KPI 1 Percentage of Council Tax collected  

KPI 2 Number empty homes <6months brought back into use  

KPI 3 Number of new homes approved  

KPI 4 Number of new homes built  

KPI 5 Number of AFFORDABLE homes built  

KPI 6 Number of larger family and aspirational homes built  

KPI 7 External funding for Economic Development Secured  

KPI 9 Local people supported with employability and skills  

Page 16



  OSC07102021 
 

 

3 

 
 

 Performance Indicator 
Was 
Target 
Met? 

KPI 16 Percentage of complaints resolved at stage one  

KPI 18 % Recycling Rate   

KPI 19 Residual Waste collected per household (kg)  

KPI 20 Percentage CTAX payed using DDeb payment method  
 

2.3 For the five KPIs that did not meet their quarterly target, the following 
 context is offered, 
 

 KPI 5 – New affordable homes built.  This KPI is not within the 
councils control as it is dependent on the actions of external 
developers.  Possible reasons behind the low figures may include; the 
scheme might have been approved a long time ago and did not 
require affordable homes to be part of the development at the time 
or there might not have been a requirement for affordable homes at 
the time of the approval on particular schemes.  Also there may be 
viability issues on sites or the scale of the development (as we are not 
able to require affordable homes on smaller sites (usually less than 
10 units). 

 

 KPI 7 – External Funding Secured for Economic Development.  As 
accountable body to the Towns Deal Boards, the Council were 
delighted at the successful Town Deal bids in which Cleator Moor and 
Millom were awarded £22.5m and £20.6m for regeneration projects 
in the towns. 

 

 KPIs 11 and 13 Speed of processing Council Tax Reduction claims 
failed to meet their quarterly targets and processing times were 
greater than the same period last year.  During the quarter, claim 
processing times were impacted by an increase in the number of new 
claims and changes to universal credit notifications, additionally, 
most UC claims were subject to an annual rent increase which further 
increased the volume and complexity of processing required.  The 
Benefits Team also continue to in administer Test and Trace 
Payments.  

Page 17



  OSC07102021 
 

 

4 

 
 

 KPI 19 - Residual Waste collected per household (kg). The quarterly 
target set for this KPI is 120kg waste collected (total waste collected 
divided by number of households).  During Quarter one 123 kg waste 
per household was collected, although this is above the quarterly 
target it is still an improved picture when compared to the same 
quarter last year where we collected 127.81 kg waste per household 
during quarter one. 

 

 

3.0 Other Performance Management activities carried out during the 

 quarter 

3.1 All annual Service plans were finalised and signed off and objectives, PIs 

 and service based risks were uploaded onto Pentana for updating and 

 review by Service  Managers.  Pentana is a cloud based performance 

 and risk management system used which allows for ‘real-time’ 

 monitoring of performance and risks through service specific 

 dashboards. 

3.2 Executive members, CLT and members of the Leadership and 

 Management Team were consulted (and feedback incorporated) on the 

 annual review and refresh of KPIs and the 2021-22 delivery plan.    

3.3 An internal audit of the Performance Management and Improvement 

 Framework  (PMIF) was carried out during the quarter as part of a three-

 year cyclical review of key governance systems.  From the areas 

 examined and tested as part of this audit review, the concluding audit 

 opinion of current controls operating within the Performance 

 Management and Improvement Framework was one of ‘reasonable 

 assurance’ and there were no high priority issues identified in the listed 

 areas for development.   

 

 

 

Page 18



  OSC07102021 
 

 

5 

 
 

4.0 Conclusions 
 
4.1 The Quarter one out-turn position is 82% of KPIs have met their target.  

 
4.2 The Government announcement in July on Local Government 
 Reorganisation further emphasised the need for robust performance 
 and risk management arrangements as we define and move towards 
 transition.   
 It is positive at this pivotal time that the internal audit carried out during 
 the quarter recognised the strengths in our current Performance 
 Management and  Improvement Framework and practices. 
 
 

5.          STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS   
 
5.1 Legal comments are: No legal issues arise from this report 

5.2 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: This report provides a progress 
 update to the Executive on key deliverables arising from the Corporate 
 Strategy. Any legal issues arising from any individual key deliverables will 
 be dealt with as appropriate.  
 
5.3 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: Contained within the report 

 The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, 2020/21 Budget and 

 Capital Plan  underpins the Corporate Strategy 

5.4 EIA Comments:  The Corporate Strategy and Service Plans against which 

 performance is measured have undergone Equality Impact Assessments.  

 Individual projects and partnership delivery against the Corporate 

 Delivery Plan are subject  to provide EIAs. 

5.5 Policy Framework:  Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules as set 

 down in the Council’s Constitution. This report directly reports on the 

 delivery of the Corporate Strategy and associated documents. 

6.   APPENDICIES   Appendix A – KPI Report for Q1 of 2021-22 
    Appendix 2 – Recycling collection spreadsheet  

- (Included for information) 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B – KPIs Report 

 

1 

 
 

Key Performance Indicator Value at 
end of Q1 

 Target 
for Q1 

 Value Vs 
Target  

Was the 
target 
met? 

Compared to the 
same quarter last 
year. 

Analysis and notes from Managers Overall 
ANNUAL 
target for 
this KPI 

KPI 1 Percentage of Council Tax collected 
29.01% 23.97% 5.04% 

  
Compared to 28.73% collected in the same 
quarter last year 

95.16% 

KPI 2 Number empty homes <6months 
brought back into use 

42 20 22 
  

Compared to 29 empty homes brought 
back into use in the same quarter last year 

80 

KPI 3 Number of new homes approved 374 35 339 
  

Compared to 26 new homes approved in 
the same quarter last year. 

140 

KPI 4 Number of new homes built 38 35 3   
Compared to 13 new homes built in the 
same quarter last year. 

140 

KPI 5 Number of AFFORDABLE homes built 0 5 -5   

Compared to16 affordable homes built in 
the same quarter last year.  This KPI is not 
corporately owned as it is dependent on 
external developers. 

21 

KPI 6 Number of larger family and 
aspirational homes built 

10 5 5   
Compared to 12 larger family homes built 
in the same quarter last year. 

21 

KPI 7 External funding for Economic 
Development Secured 

£0.00 £125000.00 -£125000.00 
  

No additional external funding this quarter - 
Successful Town Deal bid in Cleator Moor Board 
being awarded £22.5m and Millom £20.6m – 
award made but to be drawn down by Towns 
Deal Boards following successful TIPs and 
business case submissions 

£125000.00 

KPI 8 Percentage of Non-domestic Rates 
Collected 

79.77% 24.75% 55.02% 
  

Compared to 81.85% collected in the same 
quarter last year. 

99.00% 

KPI 9 Local people supported with 
employability and skills 

23 15 8 
  

Compared to 37 in the same quarter last year, 
however the quarterly target of 15 was met and 
exceeded. 
Sector Development x 11 
Wage subsidy x 6 
Employability Fund x 2 
Bespoke Support x 2 
NVQ X 2 
 

65 

KPI 10 Speed of processing - new HB claims 18.93 18 - 
  

Compared to 11.6 days to process in the 
same quarter last year. 

18 

Quarterly KPI Report for Quarter One of 2021-22 
 

P
age 21



Appendix B – KPIs Report 

 

2 

Key Performance Indicator Value at 
end of Q1 

 Target 
for Q1 

 Value Vs 
Target  

Was the 
target 
met? 

Compared to the 
same quarter last 
year. 

Analysis and notes from Managers Overall 
ANNUAL 
target for 
this KPI 

KPI 11 Speed of processing - new CTR claims 27.88 18 14.28 
  

Compared to 17.62 in the same quarter 
last year. 

During Q1 most of the UC claims will have 
had an annual rent increase which impacts 
on the volume of claims we process. 

Additionally, the averaged time to process in 
April was skewed by one ongoing claim that 
took an unusually high number days to 
complete. Claims cannot be completed until 
all relevant information is provided. 

18 

KPI 12 Speed of processing - changes of 
circumstances for HB claims 

10.13 10 0.79 
  

Compared to 7.99 in the same quarter last 
year 

10 

KPI 13 Speed of processing - changes of 
circumstances for CTR claims 

17.54 10 7.54 
  

Compared to 7.36 in the same quarter last 
year 

10 

KPI 14 Homeless relief cases 95% 90% 5% 
  

39 out of 41 cases resolved within 56 days 90% 

KPI 15 Domestic Abuse support 100% 90% 10% 
  

 90% 

KPI 16 Percentage of complaints resolved at 
stage one 

96.00% 90.00% 6.00% 
  

Compared to 95% in the same quarter last 
year 

90.00% 

KPI 17 Percentage of Freedom of information 
requests resolved within timescale 

98.61% 90.00% 8.61% 
  

Compared to 86% in the same quarter last 
year 
145 FOIs received in Q1 20/21 and 144 
FOIs received in Q1 21/22 

90.00% 

KPI 18 % Recycling Rate - percentage of 
household waste sent for reuse, recycling and 
composting  

42.25% 37.00% 2.75% 
  

Compared to 38% in the same quarter last 
year.  

36.00% 

KPI 19 Residual Waste collected per 
household (kg) 

123kg 120 kg 3kg 
  

Compared to 127kg collected in the same 
quarter last year.   

120 kg 

KPI 20 Percentage CTAX payed using DDeb 
payment method 

65% 60% 5% 
  

Comparison is not possible as Q1 figures 
were not recorded due to response and 
reprioritisation Covid 19. 

60% 

KPI 21 Percentage of 'major' planning 

applications determined within 13 weeks 
100.00% 65.00% 35.00% 

  
Compared to 100% in the same quarter 

last year 
65.00% 

P
age 22



Appendix B – KPIs Report 

 

3 

Key Performance Indicator Value at 
end of Q1 

 Target 
for Q1 

 Value Vs 
Target  

Was the 
target 
met? 

Compared to the 
same quarter last 
year. 

Analysis and notes from Managers Overall 
ANNUAL 
target for 
this KPI 

KPI 22 Percentage of planning 'minor' 
planning applications determined within 8 
weeks 

99.00% 80.00% 19.00% 
  

Compared to 100% in the same quarter 
last year 

80.00% 

KPI 23 Percentage of 'other' applications 
determined within 8 weeks 

99.00% 80.00% 19.00% 
  

Compared to 100% in the same quarter 
last year 

80.00% 

KPI 24 Percentage of planning appeals 
dismissed 

66.00% 70.00% -4.00% 
  

Compared to 100% in the same quarter 
last year (2 out of 3 appeals inq1) 

70.00% 

 
  

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



2021/22 April May June Q1 July August September

Paper Kerb 0 0 1.54 1.54

Card kerb 38.34 46.06 42.22 126.62

Glass Kerb 154.34 129.63 129.63 434.7

Cans Kerb 25.35 21.25 25.11 71.71

Plastic Kerb 47.69 39.96 47.15 134.79

PAPER card mix (mix) 96.52 87.26 99.44 283.22

GLASS/plastic/metal MIXED Kerb 113.02 92.44 104.94 310.4

2020/21 April May June Q1 July August September

Paper Kerb 43.5 34.88 49.24 127.62 36.5 32.36 35.54

Card kerb 86.1 91.98 92.24 270.32 78.96 73.84 73.72

Glass Kerb 174.9 179.84 174.48 529.22 169.8 138.89 138.57

Cans Kerb 28.89 26.86 27.71 83.45 23.06 19.62 20.4

Plastic Kerb 52.65 48.94 50.49 152.09 54.61 45.85 47.47

PAPER card mix (mix) 6.58 10.52 24.72 41.82 52.52 38.08 36.84

GLASS/plastic/metal MIXED Kerb 0 0 0 0 30.2 34.55 38.93

Paper and Card April May June Q1 July August September

2021/22 134.86 133.32 143.2 411.38 0 0 0

2020/21 136.18 137.38 166.2 439.76 167.98 144.28 146.1

% increase 99 97 86 94 0 0 0

Glass April May June Q1 July August September

2021/22 267.36 222.07 234.57 745.1 0 0 0

2020/21 174.9 179.84 174.48 529.22 200 173.44 177.5

% increase 153 123 134 141 0 0 0

Plastic/cans April May June Q1 July August September

2021/22 73.04 61.21 72.26 206.5 0 0 0

2020/21 81.54 75.8 78.2 235.54 77.67 65.47 67.87

% increase 90 81 92 88 0 0 0

Totals April May June Q1 July August September

2021/22 475.26 416.6 450.03 1362.98 0 0 0

2020/21 392.62 393.02 418.88 1204.52 445.65 383.19 391.47

% increase 121.05 106 107.44 113.16 0 0 0

In order to ensure that the rounds were completed most vehicles mixed card in with paper, the spilt was around 30% paper 70% card

Page 25



Q2 October November December Q3 January February March Q4

Q2 October November December Q3 January February March Q4

104.4 35.3 37.64 24.08 97.02 6.24 5.04 1.74 13.02

226.52 67.88 76.12 72.88 216.88 68.3 48.46 49.46 166.22

447.26 121.97 128.42 150.94 401.33 163.88 131.22 155.99 451.09

63.08 19.92 21.52 21.85 63.29 21.2 21.98 21.63 64.81

147.94 41.56 44.94 45.38 131.88 46.74 48.5 46.81 142.04

127.44 37.16 45.52 75.5 158.18 101.38 89.66 111.46 302.5

103.68 43.16 44.32 60.68 148.16 87.94 89.74 111.34 289.02

Q2 October November December Q3 January February March Q4

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

458.36 140.34 159.28 172.46 472.08 175.92 143.16 162.66 481.74

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Q2 October November December Q3 January February March Q4

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

550.944 165.13 172.74 211.62 549.49 251.82 220.96 267.33 740.11

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Q2 October November December Q3 January February March Q4

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

211.02 61.48 66.46 67.23 195.17 67.94 70.48 68.44 206.85

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Q2 October November December Q3 January February March Q4

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1220.32 366.95 398.48 451.31 1216.74 495.68 434.6 498.43 1428.7

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Page 26



6% decrease in paper and card

41% increase in Glass

12% decrease in plastic and cans

Overall 13% increase in material

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 07.10.21 

 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER 
 
LEAD OFFICER: 

Mayor Mike Starkie (Portfolio Holder for 
Finance). 
Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources 
 
WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE? 
This report provides the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the latest 
budget monitoring report to the Executive; included as Appendix A. 
 

SUMMARY: 
This report provides the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the 
2021/22 Q1 budget monitoring report presented to the Executive on 14th 
September 2021; included as Appendix A. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended to:  

1. Note the Q1 budget monitoring report to the Executive attached. 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee receive the quarterly budget 
monitoring reports to the Executive for consideration.  

2. CONCLUSIONS 

2.1. The Committee is asked to note the report. 

3. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  

3.1. Legal and Monitoring Officer’s comments are: No legal issues 
arise from the report. 

3.2. The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: Contained within the 
attached report. 

3.3. EIA Comments: N/A 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



3.4. Policy Framework: N/A 

3.5. Other consultee comments, if any: N/A 

List of Appendices  

Appendix A – Q1 Quarterly Budget Monitoring Report 
Appendix B - 2021/22 Budget Monitoring Forecast Outturn by Service 

Page 30



          Appendix A 
EXECUTIVE 14.09.21 
 
2021/22 Revenue & Capital Budget Monitoring Report – Q1 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Mayor Mike Starkie (Portfolio Holder for Finance). 
LEAD OFFICER: Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources. 
REPORT AUTHOR: Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources. 
 

SUMMARY:  
 
This Budget Monitoring report sets out the Quarter 1 (Q1 - to the end of 
June 2021) forecast year-end results against the Council’s Revenue and 
Capital Budgets for the 2021/22 financial year. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
1. Note the 2021/22 revenue forecast outturn net overspend of £14k, (See 

Paragraph 1.4 and Appendix A);  
2. Note the summary of the revenue outturn variances set out in paragraph 

1.6);  
3. Note the revised capital budget for 2021/22 (See Paragraph1.14). 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. This report contains information on the Forecast Outturn position on 
spending against the Council’s Revenue Budget for 2021/22 following 
discussions with Budget Managers. 

1.2.  The Net Revenue Budget agreed by Council on 2nd March 2021 for 
2021/22 was £8,626k. The forecast outturn position for Q1 is based 
on the best available information and budget managers’ estimates 
regarding income and expenditure.  

1.3. The Executive will recall that service budgets have made no 
allowance for increased costs or reduced income arising from the 
COVID19 pandemic however, included in the budget is additional 

Page 31



government emergency funding of £450k to meet these pressures. In 
addition to this the Executive will also recall that £600k of unutilised 
Covid Emergency funding was transferred to a COVID reserve as part 
of the 2020/21 provisional outturn. Together this means there is an 
over £1m of COVID funding available to meet COVID pressures in 
2021/22.  

1.4. The table below summarises the forecast outturn position for Q1 
against the Council’s Revenue Budget for 2021/22. 

£’000 
Revised 
Budget 

Net Exp Forecast Variance 

Net Expenditure on Services 8,626 1,465 8,640 14 

Less Sources of Finance (8,626) (2,156) (8,626) 0 

Total 0 (692) 14 14 
 

1.5. The forecast outturn for the Council shows a net overspend of £14k. 
There is a net overspend against service budgets of £264k that has 
been offset by the release of (£250k) from the COVID Emergency 
grant budget included in the Chief Executives budget. 

1.6. Service variances over £100k are summarised in the following 
paragraphs, with Appendix A showing all service areas. 

Service £’000 Variance Q1 

Environmental Health 125 

Parks & Open Spaces 244 

Chief Executive (339) 

Other  (16) 

Total 14 
 

1.7. A summary of the main variances are summarised below: 

a) Environmental Health; the forecast overspend of £125k 
primarily relates to additional staffing costs relating to COVID19 that 
has been met through the release of the COVID Emergency Grant 
monies included in the Chief Executives budget. 

Page 32



b) Parks & Open Spaces; the forecast overspend of £244k mainly 
relates to additional COVID costs and lower than budgeted contact 
income secured at this time. 

c) Chief Executive; The forecast budget saving of (£339k) includes 
use of (£250k) of the COVID Emergency Grant funding and savings in 
staffing costs due to the vacant Chief Officer post. 

1.8. The 2021/22 budget agreed by Council in February assumes use of 
£1,845k from the Shortfall in External Resources Reserve and a 
£1,500k Capitalisation Directive to balance the budget; note the 
capitalisation directive is subject to final approval by the secretary of 
state and thus remains a risk for the 2021/22 budget.  

1.9. As previously set out in Council and Executive, the Council cannot 
continue beyond March 2023 to rely on its reserves to balance the 
budget without additional income or savings. This however is subject 
to a number of assumptions regarding the impact and timing of the 
local government funding reform, long term impact of COVID and 
economy. The following section considered the impact on reserves. 

Reserves 

1.10. The Council held revenue reserves of £13.3m as at 1st April 2021; a 
£2m General Reserve, £4.6m of Earmarked Reserves relating to 
externally funded projects (Externally Funded EMRs) and £6.7m of 
Earmarked Reserves set aside by the Council in previous years that 
have been earmarked for a specific purpose (CBC Funded EMRs). 

1.11. The General Reserve is part of the Council’s risk management process 
and is retained to protect the Council in the event of major 
unforeseen events as well as provide a buffer against future financial 
risks in the medium term. The minimum level of General Reserve was 
agreed by Council in March 2021 at £2,000k, also as part of the 
budget for 2021/22, £180k was added to the reserve.  

1.12. The table below sets out the forecast balances on the revenue 
reserves to 31st March 2022: 

Page 33



 

£’000 
General 
Reserve 

Externally 
Funded 
EMRs 

CBC 
Funded 
EMRs 

Total 

Balance as at 1st April 2021 2,001 4,611 6,668 13,280 

Budgeted transfers 
(to)/from reserves in 
2021/22 (per MTFS) 

 (1,239) (1,845) (3,084) 

Q1 forecast outturn  (14)   (14) 

Forecast balance as at 31st 
March 2022 

1,987 3,372 4,823 10,182 

 

1.13. The CBC Funded Reserves as at 31st March 2022 that may be used to 
meet the budget gap for 2022/23 is estimated is £4,823k, this 
compares to the estimated budget gap for 2022/23 of £4,261k in the 
current MTFS.  

Capital Budget 

1.14. Council approved the Capital Programme for 2021/22 at its meeting 
in March 2021 and was subsequently updated with 2020/21 
provisional outturn amendments. Budget managers are in the 
process of reviewing the capital programme and will update the 
Executive in Q2.  

Treasury Management 

1.15. The Treasury Management function supports the overall objectives 
and priorities of the Council, by the use of effective treasury 
management techniques. The aim is to manage risks and ensure 
there are sufficient cash resources and long-term borrowings to 
finance the Council’s activities and capital investment programme 
whilst balancing this to the secondary objective of trying to minimise 
the costs of the net interest budget.  

1.16. Long term borrowing remains at £5m as at Q1 (£5m at 31/3/21) and 
investments are £52.817m as at 30th June. There is a net interest 
cost to the Council, this is due to interest on the loan being c7.5% 

Page 34



and investment interest being around 0.35% included in the Council’s 
budget.   

1.17. The Council undertook no new borrowing in Q1 and is not expected 
to undertake any further long-term borrowing during 2021/22 in 
accordance with the 2021/22 Treasury Management Strategy. 

2. CONCLUSIONS 

2.1. The recommendations allow the preparation of the statutory 
financial statements of the Council. 

3. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  

3.1. Legal/ Monitoring Officer’s Comments are: No legal issues arise from 
the report. The report sets out the forecast financial outturn for the 
financial year 2021/22. 

3.2.  The Section 151 Officer’s comments are contained within the report. 

3.3. EIA Comments: Not applicable.  

3.4.  Policy Framework: Not applicable. 

3.5. Other Consultee Comments, if any: None. 

4. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 

4.1.  Contained within the report 

5. HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE 
THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED? 

5.1. The proposals will be managed by Director of Financial Resources. 

6. WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 
REPORT? 

6.1. Contained within the body of the report. 

 

Page 35



List of Appendices  
 
Appendix A: 2021/22 Budget Monitoring Forecast Outturn by Service 
 
List of Background Documents: 
 
None 
 
  

Page 36



Appendix B 
2021/22 Budget Monitoring Forecast Outturn by Service 
 

Service Budget Net exp Forecast Variance

Beacon Museum 317,367 (47,943) 317,367 0

Building Control 96,321 31,859 100,987 4,666

Business Support 1,084,589 413,530 1,125,360 40,771

Chief Executive (1,152,491) 228,018 (1,491,512) (339,021)

Communications 88,626 32,169 91,176 2,550

Copeland Community Fund 0 33,231 0 0

Customer Services 362,262 64,736 358,482 (3,780)

Democratic Services 455,499 101,220 386,380 (69,119)

Development Control 37,689 (30,888) 73,329 35,640

Dir Corp Serv & Comm Strategy 318,379 69,977 268,321 (50,058)

Economic Development 197,292 (351,538) 197,292 0

Elections 120,684 150,972 120,684 0

Environmental Health 516,029 (177,137) 640,947 124,918

Financial Services 954,977 (207,903) 980,034 25,057

Human Resources 337,567 82,045 342,053 4,486

Internal Audit 124,877 16,388 65,552 (59,325)

Legal & Procurement Services 212,955 45,474 217,547 4,592

Nuclear 800 83,585 (1,388) (2,188)

Park & Open Spaces (35,650) 57,658 208,194 243,844

Property & Estates 231,051 31,878 300,663 69,612

Refuse & Recycling 2,632,077 718,589 2,628,558 (3,519)

Revenues & Benefits 695,100 166,236 691,689 (3,411)

Strategic Housing 599,059 (103,856) 589,218 (9,841)

Strategic Planning 430,941 57,648 429,124 (1,817)

Grand Total 8,626,000 1,465,946 8,640,057 14,057  
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



         OSC: 7 October 2021 
 
 
 
Executive member:  Mike Starkie, Mayor (Portfolio Holder for Finance). 
Lead Officer:   Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources. 
Report Author:  Janet Sinnott, Revenues and Benefits Manager. 
 
Why has this report come to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee? 
 
The Committee has requested an update regarding the Discretionary Business 
Rates Relief Policy detailed on the Forward Plan. The refreshed policy is due to 
go to The Executive on 14 October 2021 and Full Council on 7 December 2021 
for approval.   
 
SUMMARY 
 
This report provides Overview and Scrutiny with the proposed updated 
Discretionary Business Rates Policy, included as Appendix A, for consideration 
and comment.  
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: To note and provide comments regarding the proposed 
Discretionary Business Rates Relief Policy 
 

 
1.   INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1. In accordance with the Local Government Finance Act (LGFA) 1988, 

Councils are expected to maintain a Discretionary Rate Relief scheme to 
support certain organisations with relief from business rates.  
 

1.2. Sections 44a, 47 and 49 of the LGFA allows councils to grant discretionary 
business rates relief. Section 47 was amended by the Localism Act 2011 
s69 from 1 April 2012 to allow wider granting of local discretionary relief.  
 

2. DETAIL 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



2.1 A number of reliefs from Business Rates are awarded without the need 
for discretion, these are classed as mandatory reliefs. Examples of such 
reliefs are: 

 

 Small Business Rate Relief 

 Mandatory Charity Relief  

 Mandatory Rural Relief 

 Relief for publicly owned toilets 
 

2.2. Where central government leads an initiative following Budget 
announcements, the government has determined that Councils can use 
discretionary powers under section 47 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988 to provide reliefs to support national initiatives. Such reliefs are 
reimbursed in full via a section 31 grant: Examples of such initiatives are: 

 

 Revaluation Relief 

 Supporting Small Business Relief 

 Newspaper Relief 

 Expanded Retail Discount 

 Nursery Discount 
 
2.3. For all other awards made under section 44a, 47 & 49 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988, there is a cost borne by the Council Tax 
payers for the borough. The cost is funded as follows: 

 

 50% funded by Central Government 

 40% funded by Copeland Borough Council 

 10% funded by Cumbria County Council 
 
2.4. Examples of reliefs where there is a cost borne by the Council Tax payers 

 for the borough: 
 

 Discretionary Rate Relief “Top-up” for Charities, Community Amateur 
Sports Clubs (CASCs)  

 Discretionary Rate Relief for non-profit making organisations 

 Rural Discretionary Relief 

 Part occupation relief awarded under s44a LGFA 1988 

 Hardship Relief awarded under s49 LGFA 1988 

 Discretionary Relief – local decision  
 

Page 40



2.5. Due to the wider impact of discretionary decisions, the policy outlines 
how the council will operate within the above legislation, and references 
the administration of reliefs, including the application process, 
responsibilities for decision making, and the process for appealing any 
decision. 

2.6. Copeland Borough Councils scheme supports the Corporate Strategy for 
2020-2024 by ensuring revenue spent under local decisions will be repaid 
in economic and community benefit.  

 
 
3. CONCLUSION 
 
3.1. The Council has taken the opportunity to review its Discretionary Rate 

Relief scheme to ensure government policy, and to ensure our 
commitment in recognising the voluntary, community and other sectors 
are supported in their contribution towards the economy, health and 
well-being of Copeland residents. 

 
3.2. The Committee is asked to note the contents of the policy.  
 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Discretionary Business Rates Relief Policy 
 
Background Information: 
 
As Appendices and further information and guidance can be found in the 
following links: 
 
Local Government Finance Act 1988 (legislation.gov.uk) 
 
Business rates: expanded retail discount - guidance - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 

Page 41

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/41/section/44A
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-retail-discount-guidance


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-expanded-retail-
discount-2021-to-2022-local-authority-guidance  
 
LGF_Bill_Factsheet_-_Public_Toilets.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk) 
 
4/2021: legislation and 2021/22 business rates reliefs - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 

 
 

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-expanded-retail-discount-2021-to-2022-local-authority-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-expanded-retail-discount-2021-to-2022-local-authority-guidance
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/588000/LGF_Bill_Factsheet_-_Public_Toilets.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/42021-legislation-and-202122-business-rates-reliefs/42021-legislation-and-202122-business-rates-reliefs


 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Discretionary Business Rates 
Relief  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Version: 2  
Policy Date: Oct 2021 
Strategy date: October 2021-October 2022 
 
 
 

Page 43



Filename and version number 

Page 2 of 17 

2 
Document Control  
 

Organisation Copeland Borough Council 

Title Discretionary Business Rates Relief 

Version 2 

Author Janet Sinnott 

Filename Discretionary Business Rates Relief Policy 

Owner Steven Brown 

Subject  

Protective Marking  

Review Date October 2022 

Note: This document is uncontrolled if printed or reproduced 
 

Revision History 
 

Version 
Reviewed 

Date Reviewed Reviewed By Description of Revision 

1 April 2019 Janet Sinnott Policy 

2 October 2021 Janet Sinnott Revisions 

 

Document Approval  
 

Version Approved By Date 

 Human Resources  

 Corporate Leadership Team  

 Trade Union Consultation  

 Executive  

 Full Council 
 

 

 

Document Distribution 
 
This policy is to be distributed to all staff and elected members of Copeland Borough Council 
and placed on the Council’s Intranet Site. A copy must also be provided to contractors and 3rd 
parties undertaking work on Copeland Borough Council premises.   
 

Contributors 
 

 

Janet Sinnott Revenues and Benefits Manager 

  

  

  

  

Page 44



Filename and version number 

Page 3 of 17 

3 
Contents 

 
Title ..................................................................................Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Date ................................................................................................................................ 1 

Document Control ............................................................................................................ 2 

Revision History ............................................................................................................ 2 

Document Approval ...................................................................................................... 2 

Document Distribution .................................................................................................. 2 

Contributors ................................................................................................................. 2 

Contents .......................................................................................................................... 3 

Purpose .........................................................................................................................   5 

Policy Benefits ................................................................................................................. 5 

Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 5 

Scope .............................................................................................................................. 5 

Definitions ....................................................................................................................... 6 

Roles and Responsibilities ................................................................................................. 6 

Policy Details including Procedures.................................................................................... 7 

Monitoring of Policy Adherence ...................................................................................... 16 

References ..................................................................................................................... 16 

 

Page 45

file://///cbc-shareserv/Policy%20and%20Transformation/Change%20Programme%20Board/Business%20Theme/Working%20Differently/Policies/Policy%20Template.doc%23_Toc433618858


Filename and version number 

Page 4 of 17 

4 
Purpose 
 

The purpose of this policy is to set out the circumstances in which the Council will 
exercise its discretion to grant Discretionary Business Rates Relief. 
 

Policy Benefits  
 

This policy has been written with due regard to Copeland Borough Council’s 
Corporate Strategy 2020-2024: 
 
‘Making Copeland a better place to live, work and visit’  
 
This Vision underpins 3 core ambitions – ensuring our communities thrive, 
maximising our opportunities for growth, and protecting and enhancing our 
environment. 

 
The Council recognises the importance of supporting local businesses and 
organisations to promote the provision of local facilities, economic growth, 
employment and investment, and to improve prosperity and support 
disadvantaged communities across the borough. 
 

Introduction 

 
In accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1988, the Council is 
empowered to award Discretionary Business Rates Relief.  
 
In order to provide clear and transparent guidance regarding relief from business 
rates, and to ensure reliefs awarded under local decisions are done so fairly and 
consistently across the borough, Councils are expected to maintain a 
Discretionary Business Rates Relief scheme.  
 
Councils have discretionary powers under Section 44a, 47 and 49 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988, as amended by Section 69 of the Localism Act 
2011, to grant relief to businesses and certain organisations.  
 
Where Central Government leads an initiative, Councils are reimbursed with a 
Section 31 grant. Examples of such initiatives are: 2017 Revaluation Relief 
scheme, Expanded Retail Discount, Nursery Discount, Newspaper Relief, 
Supporting Small Business Relief and Mandatory Rural Relief. 
 

Page 46



Filename and version number 

Page 5 of 17 

5 
All other awards of Discretionary Business Rates relief are funded locally. Public 
funds however are not unlimited and a proportion of the costs of unfunded 
Discretionary Relief granted is borne by the council tax payers for the borough.  
 
Following the introduction of Business Rates Retention in April 2013, the cost of 
awarding Discretionary Business Rates Relief is apportioned as follows: 
 
50% funded by Central Government 
40% funded by Copeland Borough Council 
10% funded by Cumbria County Council 
 

Scope 
 
The scope of this policy covers the principal areas of Discretionary Business Rate 
Relief available to ratepayers within Copeland. 
 

Definitions 
 

Discretionary Rate Relief – Relief from Business Rates 
Hereditament – Business Property 
Ratepayer – Legal entity responsible for Business Rates 
 

Roles and Responsibilities 
 

Council Responsibilities 
 

Where the Council has received an application for Discretionary Rate Relief, it will 
be considered in a professional and timely manner.  
 
Where the government leads an initiative, relief will be applied automatically, if 
possible.  
 
When making decisions regarding unfunded Discretionary Relief, the Council will 
ensure revenue spent will be repaid in economic and community benefit.  
 
Ratepayer Responsibilities  
 

For local discretionary relief, ratepayers are expected to complete the Business 
Rates – Discretionary Relief Application form, and submit this along with the 

Page 47



Filename and version number 

Page 6 of 17 

6 
supported evidence requested. Ratepayers must also respond to additional 
requests from the council for further information to support their application. 

 
Ratepayers must inform the council of any changes in circumstances which may 
affect eligibility for relief.  

Policy Details including Procedures 
 

Mandatory Relief  
 

Section 43 and 45 of The Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the 
Council to grant Mandatory Rate Relief of 80 per cent. The following categories of 
business rates payers are included: 
 

 Charities where the property is wholly or mainly used for charitable 
purposes 

 Registered Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASCs) registered 
accordingly as such with HMRC 

 Certain types of rural hereditaments are entitled to 100 per cent relief 
 

Rural Rate Relief 
 

With effect from 1 April 2017, Mandatory Rural Rate Relief was increased from 
50 per cent relief to 100 per cent relief.  
 
Eligible businesses qualify for relief if their business is in a rural area with a 
population below 3,000; they are the only village shop of post office, with a 
rateable value of up to £8,500, or the only public house or petrol station, with a 
rateable value of up to £12,500.  
 
In addition, the Council may also grant up to 100 per cent unfunded Discretionary 
Relief to any rural business provided all of the following criteria are met:-  
 

 The property is located in a rural settlement 

 The Rateable Value of the property does not exceed £16,500  

 The property is occupied by a business that benefits the local community 

 It is reasonable for the Council to grant relief having regard to the interests 
of persons liable to pay the Council Tax.  

  

Page 48



Filename and version number 

Page 7 of 17 

7 
Discretionary Rural Relief is not limited to any particular type of business.  

Applicants will be expected to demonstrate that their business is important to 

the maintenance of village life. 

 

Page 49



Filename and version number 

Page 8 of 17 

8 
 

Discretionary Rate Relief Scheme 
 

The provision to award Discretionary Rate Relief is contained in section 47 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988. Legislation requires Councils to maintain a 
Discretionary Rate Relief scheme to award up to 100 per cent business rates 
relief in respect of hereditaments occupied by certain organisations and/or for 
certain purposes.  
 

Discretionary Rate Relief 
 

A further 20 per cent award to charities in receipt of 80 per cent Mandatory 
Relief, referred to as Discretionary “top-up”, can be awarded if the property is 
wholly and mainly used for charitable purposes.  
 
The Council will consider applications for a 20 per cent “top-up” from the 
following: 
 

Top –up Relief for Charities 
 

Where the property is wholly and mainly used for charitable purposes, 
applications will be considered from registered charities.  
 
Applications will be considered on their own merits, on a case by case basis. 
However, the following will be taken in to consideration when determining 
applications: 
 

 Charities able to demonstrate financial hardship; 

 Charities whose objectives support activities exclusively within Copeland 
with their main office/premises based in Copeland; 

 Top-up relief to national charities including national charity shops and 
other organisations should not be granted. 

 
The organisation must provide a copy of their constitution (memorandum and 
articles of association) and a copy of the last two years audited accounts. 
 
Top-up Relief for Registered Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASCs)  
 
CASCs receive 80 per cent Mandatory Relief if they are registered accordingly as 
such with HMRC. To qualify the club must be set up with a formal constitution. 
The written constitution requires the club to meet certain conditions: 

Page 50



Filename and version number 

Page 9 of 17 

9 
 

 Be open to the whole community; 

 Be organised on an amateur basis; 

 Have its main purpose for the provision of facilities for, and the promotion 
of participation in, one of more eligible sports; 

 Not exceed the income limit; 

 Meet the management condition; 

 The club must demonstrate it is set up and provides facilities in an eligible 
area. 

 
CASCs that qualify for the above Mandatory Relief can apply to the Council for a 
discretionary “top-up” for a maximum of 20 per cent relief. The Council will 
consider the following when determining applications: 
 

 The contribution the organisation makes to Copeland Borough Council; 

 Membership fees must be affordable and membership should be open to 
everyone. It is expected that the majority of members would be Copeland 
residents; 

 Open membership should be encouraged by the organisation, and effort 
should be made to encourage membership from young people, disabled 
persons, minority groups, older age groups and unemployed people; 

 If the building is accessible to disabled people, or if reasonable attempts 
are being made to make it accessible;  

 If facilities are encouraged for non-members such as schools and casual 
public sessions. The wider use of facilities should be encouraged; 

 If the organisation provides training and/or education for its members. 
 
The organisation must provide a copy of their constitution (memorandum and 
articles of association) and a copy of the last two years audited accounts. 
 
Discretionary Rate Relief for non-profit making organisations  
 

Non-Profit organisations, who are not classified as charities or CASCs, can apply 
for Discretionary Rate Relief of up to 100 per cent. The property must be used for 
charitable purposes concerned with relief of poverty, advancement of education, 
social welfare, science, literature or fine arts; or is used wholly and mainly for 
recreation by a not for profit club or society.  
 
Community Interest Companies (CICs) registered as such with the Office of the 
Regulator of CICs can apply for relief of up to 100 per cent.  

Page 51



Filename and version number 

Page 10 of 17 

10 
 
In determining applications, the Council will consider the following: 
 

 If the activities support at least one of the Council’s ambitions contained 
within the Corporate Strategy: 
www.copeland.gov.uk/attachments/corporate-strategy-2020-2024  

 If activities are provided for the benefit of Copeland residents; 

 If membership fees are affordable and if membership is open to everyone. 
It is expected that the majority of members would be Copeland residents; 

 Open membership should be encouraged by the organisation, and effort 
should be made to encourage membership from young people, disabled 
persons, minority groups, older age groups and unemployed people; 

 If facilities are encouraged for non-members such as schools and casual 
public sessions. The wider use of facilities should be encouraged; 

 If the organisation provides training and/or education for its members 
 

The organisation must provide a copy of their constitution (memorandum and 
articles of association) and a copy of the last two years audited accounts.  
 
In determining applications for Discretionary Rate Relief “Top-up” from Charities, 
CASCs and Not for Profit Organisations, the Council may at its discretion: 
 

 Grant relief up to a maximum of 100 per cent of the business rates due 

 Grant relief for a sum less than 100 per cent of the business rates due 

 Refuse the application for relief  
 

Part-Occupation Relief 
 
Section 44a of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 permits the Council to 
require the Valuation Officer to apportion the rateable value of a hereditament 
between the occupied and unoccupied parts, where it appears to the authority 
that part of the hereditament is unoccupied but will remain so for a short time. A 
short time in the main is considered to be no more than six months.  
 
Relief will be 100 per cent of the rates attributable to the unoccupied part.  
 
The Council will consider the following when determining applications: 
 

 The circumstances surrounding the part-occupation 

 The intention of the ratepayer to fully occupy or vacate the property 

Page 52

http://www.copeland.gov.uk/attachments/corporate-strategy-2020-2024


Filename and version number 

Page 11 of 17 

11 
 Confirmation that the part occupation will be for a short time only 

 The financial implications on council tax payers for granting relief 
 
Relief will not be granted if the application for relief is granted after the property 
has become fully occupied or vacant.  
 
Applications should be supported with a plan clearly identifying the occupied and 
unoccupied parts, along with evidence of the intention to re-occupy or vacate, 
and evidence part occupation is for a short time only.  
 
Relief will end on the first day one or more of the following occurs: 
 

 A change in the extent of partial occupation 

 The ending of the rate period to which the apportionment relates 

 The beginning of a new period under a new certificate  

 The hereditament becoming completely occupied 
 

Hardship Relief 
 

Under section 49 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, the Council has 
discretion to award up to 100 per cent relief in exceptional circumstances where 
it is satisfied that: 
 

 The ratepayer would sustain hardship if the authority did not do so; and 

 It is reasonable for the authority to do so, having regard to the interests of 
persons subject to its council tax.  

 
Reduction or remission on the grounds of hardship should be the exception 
rather than the rule.  
 
The main consideration for the council is the effect it will have on local council 
tax payers if there was a loss from a major employer in the area, or if the 
business was the only provider of an essential service in an area.  
 
There is no statutory definition of hardship. Applications will be considered on 
their own merit, on a case by case basis. The principle consideration is that any 
relief is in the best interests of the council tax payers for Copeland.  
 
Awards will be granted for periods for which there is clear evidence of hardship 
for the ratepayer concerned.  

Page 53



Filename and version number 

Page 12 of 17 

12 
 

Local Business Rate Discount – Government Funded 
Temporary Reliefs 
 

Following the Chancellor’s Budget announcements of 2016,2017,2018,2020 and 
2021, the Government determined that Councils can use discretionary powers 
under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 to provide reliefs to 
support national initiatives. The reliefs granted will be reimbursed in full by 
Government via a Section 31 grant.  
 

Local Business Rate Discount – Council Determined 
Decisions - Unfunded 
 

A local business rate discount can be considered in appropriate cases. Any 
decision will consider the interest of the council tax payers for Copeland, and the 
decision will support the strategic aims and objectives of the Council. Particular 
consideration will be given to how the granting of relief can support the creation 
and or safeguarding of jobs in Copeland.   
 

Local Newspapers 
 

£1,500 discount is available to office space occupied by local newspapers, up to 
one discount per newspaper title, and up to Subsidy limits, until 31 March 2025. 
 

Expanded Retail Discount and Nursery Discount 2020-
21 COVID19 
 

In the Budget on the 11 March 2020, the Government announced relief of 100 
per cent to eligible retail and nursery businesses from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 
2021. This discount was for one year from 1 April 2020.  
 
Further information regarding eligibility can be found here: 
Business rates: expanded retail discount - guidance - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 

Expanded Retail Discount & Nursery Discount 2021-22 
COVID19 
 

Page 54

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-retail-discount-guidance


Filename and version number 

Page 13 of 17 

13 
In the Budget on 3 March 2021, following the 100 per cent discount that was 
applied during 2020-21, the Chancellor announced that 100 per cent relief will 
continue for the first three months of the financial year, which covers the period 
1 April 2021 to 30 June 2021.  
 
From 1 July 2021, a 66 per cent discount applies for the remainder of 2021-22 for 
eligible businesses. 
 
The 66 per cent discount is subject to a ‘cash cap’. This means a ratepayer may 
only receive up to the following cash caps of Expanded Retail Discount in 2021-
22, ignoring any relief for the period before 1 July 2021: 
 

 £2 million for ratepayers which were mandated by the Government to 
close their business on 5 January 2021; 

 £105,000 for all other ratepayers 
 
Businesses that receive less than £2 million in Government aid (for those forced 
to close) or less than £105k (for those not forced to close), between 1 July 2021 
and 31 March 2022, are eligible for 66 per cent discount. Any business that 
received Government support exceeding these totals will not be eligible.  
 
Eligible businesses are asked to complete a ‘cash cap’ declaration confirming they 
will not exceed the thresholds permitted.  
 
For nurseries, the properties benefitting from the relief are those occupied by 
Ofsted’s Early Years Register and wholly or mainly used for the provision of the 
Early Years Foundation Stage.  
 
The Council will use its discretionary powers under section 47 of the Local 
Government Finance Act to provide this discount of 100 per cent for the first 
three months of the financial year, and 66 per cent discount for the remainder of 
the 2021-22 financial year.   
 
Further information regarding eligibility can be found here: 
Business rates: expanded retail discount 2021 to 2022 - local authority guidance - 
GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 
Relief for Public Toilets 
 

Page 55

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-expanded-retail-discount-2021-to-2022-local-authority-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-expanded-retail-discount-2021-to-2022-local-authority-guidance


Filename and version number 

Page 14 of 17 

14 
Local authorities already have the power to award discretionary relief to privately 
run toilets.  
 
At the Budget in 2018, the Chancellor announced a mandatory business rate 
relief Bill for publicly owned toilets. The Act received Royal Assent on 29 April 
2021 and relief is provided retrospectively from 1 April 2020.  
 
Properties that are publicly owned and consist wholly or mainly of public toilets 
in England and Wales will receive a 100 per cent relief from business rates. 
 
Legislation to award 100 per cent relief was required, as under section 47 (8)(a) 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, a local authority is unable to award 
relief to itself, or any other organisation that has the powers to raise or precept 
for Council Tax.  
 

Supporting Small Businesses 
 

This is a scheme for ratepayers who are losing some or all of their small business 
rate relief as a result of a large rateable value increase following the 2017 
revaluation. The scheme is available for 5 years from 1 April 2017.  
 
The Supporting Small Businesses relief will ensure that the increase per year in 
the bills of these ratepayers is limited to the greater of:  
 
a) An annual percentage increase 5%, 7.5%, 10%, 15% and 15% in the financial 
years 2017/18 to 2021/22, all plus inflation. Unlike the transitional relief scheme, 
for the first year of the scheme the percentage increase is taken against the bill 
for 31 March 2017 after small business rate relief, or  
 
b) A cash value of £600 per year (£50 per month). This cash minimum increase 
ensures that those ratepayers paying nothing or very small amounts in 2016/17 
after small business rate relief are brought into paying something.  
 
In the first year of the scheme (2017/18), this means all ratepayers losing some 
or all of their small business rate relief or rural rate relief will see the increase in 
their bill capped at £600. The cash minimum increase is £600 per year thereafter. 
 

Application, Decision and Period of Award 
 

Page 56



Filename and version number 

Page 15 of 17 

15 
Awards provided through government led initiatives will be provided without the 
need for an application. Under such circumstances, the council will award the 
appropriate relief automatically, where possible.  
 
For unfunded local discretionary awards, applications for Discretionary Business 
Rates Relief should be requested by emailing business.rates@copeland.gov.uk or 
calling 01946 598300.  
 
Applications resulting in awards of £50,000 or less will be considered by the 
Revenues and Benefits Manager and the Director of Financial Resources. The 
final decision rests with the Director of Financial Resources. Applications resulting 
in a cost greater than £50,000 will be reported to the Executive and referred to 
Full Council for a decision.  
 
In order to provide some financial stability to the organisation requesting relief, 
awards will be provided for a maximum of three years. The notification letter 
issued will provide at least one year’s notice of any withdrawal or variation of 
relief.  
 

Appeals 
 

The Local Government Finance Act provides no statutory right of appeal against 
the Council’s guidance and use of discretionary powers. The only statutory 
avenue open to challenge the content of the guidance is through judicial review, 
where the High Court would be asked to consider if the billing authority has acted 
within its powers.  
 
A request for a review of the original decision made by the Director of Financial 
Resources can be made to Copeland Borough Council; it must be submitted in 
writing within one calendar month, to Revenues and Benefits, Appeals and 
Quality Team, and state the reasons for the appeal. Additional information and 
evidence should be attached to the appeal for consideration.  
 
The Appeals and Quality Teams decision is final and any dispute to this decision 
should be challenged by judicial review.  
 

State Aid – Subsidy Allowance 
 

Prior to 1 January 2021, awards of discretionary rate relief were considered likely 
to amount to State Aid as defined by the European Union. The EU required that 

Page 57

mailto:business.rates@copeland.gov.uk


Filename and version number 

Page 16 of 17 

16 
all State Aid (including Discretionary Rate Relief) complied with the De Minimis 
Regulations EC 1407/2013. The regulations allowed an undertaking to receive up 
to €200,000 aid over a rolling three year period. A Temporary framework was 
introduced as part of COVID-19 and a revised threshold of €800,000 was 
introduced.  
 
From 1 January 2021, the UK left the EU and is no longer subject to the De 
Minimis Regulations. However, the Government has introduced its own rules 
regarding state subsidies. Discretionary Rate Relief is considered a subsidy under 
the rules, but the matters that must be considered all relate to the effect of the 
subsidy on international trade.  
 
Regarding Expanded Retail Discount and Nursery Discount, the government’s 
assessment is that, given the impact of COVID-19 on the sectors receiving the 
relief, the discount is not a state aid.  

 
Restrictions to Discretionary Rate Relief 
 

In line with the restrictions of section 47(8)(a) of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988, billing authorities may not grant discretionary business rates relief to 
themselves or any other organisation that has the powers to raise or precept for 
Council Tax. 

 
Fraud 
 

Where a ratepayer falsely applies for any relief, or where the ratepayer provides 
false information, makes false representation, or deliberately withholds 
information to gain relief, prosecutions will be considered under the Fraud Act 
2006.  
 

Monitoring of Policy Adherence 
 

This policy will be reviewed on an annual basis or sooner if there is a change of 
legislation that would affect its operation.  
 

References 
 
Read the Community Amateur Sports Clubs: detailed guidance notes - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) 

Page 58

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-amateur-sports-clubs-detailed-guidance-notes/community-amateur-sports-clubs-detailed-guidance-notes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-amateur-sports-clubs-detailed-guidance-notes/community-amateur-sports-clubs-detailed-guidance-notes


Filename and version number 

Page 17 of 17 

17 
 
Local Government Finance Act 1988 (legislation.gov.uk) 
 
Business rates: expanded retail discount - guidance - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-expanded-retail-
discount-2021-to-2022-local-authority-guidance  
 
LGF_Bill_Factsheet_-_Public_Toilets.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk) 
 
4/2021: legislation and 2021/22 business rates reliefs - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 

Page 59

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/41/section/44A
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-retail-discount-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-expanded-retail-discount-2021-to-2022-local-authority-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-expanded-retail-discount-2021-to-2022-local-authority-guidance
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/588000/LGF_Bill_Factsheet_-_Public_Toilets.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/42021-legislation-and-202122-business-rates-reliefs/42021-legislation-and-202122-business-rates-reliefs


This page is intentionally left blank



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 

Standing Items (Items will only appear on the agenda should there be an update) 

Item Corporate Plan Priority Purpose Lead Officer 

Executive Forward Plan 
 

All To identify any forthcoming 
items which the Committee 
may consider. 

Chief Executive 

Scrutiny Officer Updates All To update the Committee on 
the progress of Task and Finish 
Groups and the Work 
Programme 

Scrutiny Officer 

 

Agenda Items for Committee Meetings 

Date Expected Item Corporate Plan Priority Detail Lead Officer 

2nd 
September 
2021 
 
 
 
 

2020/21 Council 
Performance Plan – 
Quarter 4 
 

All 
 

Report on the performance 
of Copeland Council at the 
end of quarter four of 
2020/21 
 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial  
Strategy (M.O.) 
 

Street Lighting Report 
 

All 
 

Report to update OSC on 
the Street Lighting issue in 
Copeland 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial  

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 10



Date Expected Item Corporate Plan Priority Detail Lead Officer 

 Strategy (M.O.) 

Engagement with 
Schools Update 

All Update regarding the 
engagement agreed with 
schools 

Social Inclusion and 
Community Resilience 
Team Leader 
 

7th October 
2021 
 
 

2021/22 Council 
Performance Plan – 
Quarter 1 

All Report on the performance 
of Copeland Council at the 
end of quarter one of 
2020/21 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial  
Strategy (M.O.) 

2021/22 Finance 
Report – Quarter 1 
 

All Report on the financial 
position of Copeland 
Council at the end of 
quarter one of 2020/21 
 

Director of Financial 
Resources 
 

Business Rates – 
Discretionary Rate 
Relief Policy Update 

All An update is to be provided 
regarding the Policy from 
the Director as requested 
by the Committee 

Director of Financial 
Resources 
 

Fleet Renewal Update All An update is to be provided 
by the Portfolio Holder 
regarding the Fleet Renewal 

Community Services 
Manager 

P
age 62



Date Expected Item Corporate Plan Priority Detail Lead Officer 

that is currently taking 
place. 

Law Centre 
Presentation 

All Presentation to OSC from 
Law Centre regarding CBC 
grant 

Strategic Housing 
Manager 

4th 
November 
2021 
 
 
 

2021/22 Finance 
Report – Quarter 2 

All Report on the financial 
position of Copeland 
Council at the end of 
quarter two of 2020/21 

Director of Financial 
Resources 

2021/22 Council 
Performance Plan – 
Quarter 2 

All Report on the performance 
of Copeland Council at the 
end of quarter two of 
2020/21 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial  
Strategy (M.O.) 

Budget Consultation All Budget Consultation 
Questions – discussion 

Director of Financial 
Resources 

Budget Monitoring All Monitoring discussion 
regarding the 2020/21 
Budget 

Director of Financial 
Resources 

2nd 
December 
2021 

West Cumbria 
Community Safety 
Partnership Update 

All Update from the West 
Cumbria Community Safety 
Partnership as required as 

Chief Executive 

P
age 63



Date Expected Item Corporate Plan Priority Detail Lead Officer 

 the Crime and Disorder 
Panel. 

Ombudsman Annual 
Report 

All Annual Feedback Summary 
of the Comments, 
Compliments & Complaints 
of 2020/21 from the 
Ombudsman 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial  
Strategy (M.O.) 

Yearly Review All A Review by Scrutiny Officer 
to highlight the work done 
throughout the year, work 
to do in 2022 and any 
improvements 

Scrutiny Officer 

18th January 
2022 
(Special) 

Draft Budget All The Mayor will present their 
Draft Budget proposals for 
the year 2022/2023 

Director of Financial 
Resources 

 

Items to be programmed into the OSC Work Programme 2021/22 

 

P
age 64



      
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Task and Finish Group Monitoring 

Task and Finish 

Group 

 

Chair of Task 
and Finish 
Group 

Progress  Next Step  Estimated 

Completion 

Date 

Health and Wellbeing 
North Copeland 

Cllr John Kane Membership 
confirmed. 

Initial contact being made with potential 
interviewees. 

March 2022 

Health and Wellbeing 
South Copeland 

Cllr Fee Wilson Membership 
confirmed. 

Initial contact being made with potential 
interviewees. 

March 2022 

Housing Cllr Mike 
Hawkins 

Membership 
confirmed. 

Group has agreed to delay moving 
forward until Q3 with main project. Small 
projects will continue in the meantime. 

TBC 

Social Media Policy 
Review 

TBC Membership 
Confirmed 

Draft scope created to be confirmed at 
the next meeting. 

TBC 

Effective Digital 
Engagement 

TBC Membership 
Confirmed 

Draft scope created to be confirmed at 
the next meeting. 

January 
2021 

 

 

P
age 65



      
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 

Working Group Chair of 
Working 
Group 

Progress Next Step Estimated 
Completion 
Date 

Budget Monitoring TBC Membership 

Confirmed 

Scope to be confirmed at the next 

meeting. 

Ongoing 

Budget Development 

Analysis 

Steven Morgan Membership 

Confirmed 

Scope to be confirmed at the next 

meeting. 

 

P
age 66


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 2 September 2021
	4 Executive Forward Plan
	5 2021/22 Council Performance Plan - Q1
	Appendix A - KPIs Report Q1_21-22 (OSC)
	Appendix B - Recycling Tonnage Data 21-22 (OSC)

	6 2021/22 Finance Report - Q1
	7 Business Rates - Discretionary Rate Relief Policy Update
	Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2021

	10 Scrutiny Officer Updates
	Task and Finish Group Updates Draft 2021-22


